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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION
VICKI BARBERA,
Plaintiff,
VS. No. 1:16ev-2533JMS-DML

PEARSONEDUCATION, INC.,

N N N N N N N N N

Defendant
ORDER

Plaintiff Vicki Barbera, who is femaleworked for DefendanPearson Education, Inc.
(“Pearson”) an education publishing comparigyr 27 years. During her tenure, Ms Barbera
worked in a variety of roles, most recently as a Managewusin@ssAnalysis. In January 2016
Pearson announced that 700 warehouse employees — including Ms. Barbera — would no longer be
employed by Pearson but would, instdaglemployed by R.R. Donnelley & Sons Compam:R.
Donnelley). After Ms. Barbera declined taeepta job offer from R.R. Donnelley, sHaought
this lawsuit aginstPearsomllegingsexdiscriminationandaviolation of the EquaPay Act Pear-
sonmoved for summary judgment;ifing No. 54, and that motion is now ripe for the Court’s
review. In addition, Ms. Barbera filed an Objection to Magistrate Judge’'®rder on Plaintiff's
Motion for Sanctions,Hiling No. 64, which the Court will also consider herein.

l.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trial is unnecessangdeca
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead, the movant istentidgment
as a matter of lawSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) As the current version of Rule 56 makes clear,

whether a party asserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, theysagypport the
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asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the recoalyding depositions, documents, or affi-
davits. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A)A party can also support a fact by showing that the materials
cited do not establish the absence or presencgeariine dispute or that the adverse party cannot
produce admissible evidence to support the feetd. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B)Affidavits or decla-
rations must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be adnmssidence,
and show that the affiant is competent to testify on matters sta@edR. Civ. P. 56(c)(4)Failure

to properly support a fact in opposition to a movant’s factual assertion can resultriovhet’s

fact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the grant of summary juddtradnR. Civ.

P. 56(e)

In deciding a motion for summary judgment, the Court need only consider dispuged fact
that are material to the decision. A disputed fact is material if it might affect theveutdfathe
suit under the governing lawdampton v. Ford Motor Cp561 F.3d 709, 713 (7th Cir. 2009)n
other words, while there may be facts that are in dispute, summary judgrapptopriate if those
facts are not outcome determinatividarper v. Vigilant Ins. C9.433 F.3d 521, 525 (7th Cir.
2005) Fact disputes that are irrelevant to the legal question will not be consideréerson v.
Liberty Lobby, InG.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)

On summary judgment, a party must show the Court what evidence it has that would con-
vince a trier of fact to accept its version of the evedtshnson v. Cambridge Indug25 F.3d
892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003)The moving party is entitled to summary judgment if no reasonable fact
finder could return a verdict for the nomoving party. Nelson v. Miller 570 F.3d 868, 875 (7th
Cir. 2009) The Courtviews the record in the light most favorable to the-nmving party and
draws all reasonable inferences in that party’s fadarst v. Interstate Brands Corb12 F.3d

903,907 (7th Cir. 2008) It cannot weigh evidence or make credibility determinations on summary
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judgment because those tasks are left tddabefinder. O’Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc657
F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011)The Court need only consider the cited materiads,. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(3) and theSeventh Circuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly assured the districd toafrt
they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidence that isghgtesievant to
the summary judgment motion before thedghnson 325 F.3d at 898 Any doubt as to the ex-
istence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving partsetti v. GE Pension
Plan, 614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010)

Il.
EVIDENTIARY MATTERS

Beforesetting forth the facts in this cagbe Court will first consider Ms. Barbera’s Ob-
jectionto theMagistrate Judge’'®rder on Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions.Fifing No. 66 (ob-
jecting toFiling No. 62.]

On November 22, 2017, the Magistrate Judge assigned to this case issued an Order on
Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions. Hiling No. 62(granting in part and denying irap Filing No.
48)]. The main poinbf contention concerned an emisis. Barbera alleges she sent to Michael

Nathanson, Pearson’s Senior Vice President of Distribution, in January Zli&) flo. 62 at 3

During discovery, Pearson did not produce Ms. Barbera’s email exchange withatfianision.

[Filing No. 62 at § The Magistate Judge found that “[t]he record before the court shows that

Pearson should reasonably have anticipated litigation involving Ms. Barbera and ghefdssw-

erance pay some time in February 2016jtiig No. 62 at j and that “[w]hile Pearson gives

plausible reasons why the email exchange might not have been available to it évine Wwist

litigation hold protocol, it has not described the actual protbéallowed,” [Filing No. 62 at 1D

Accordingly, the Court determined that a remedy shouldfleeded to Ms. Barbera. However,

the Court found that Pearson did not act with the intent to deprive Ms. Barbera of the informat
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and, therefore, declined to impose sanctions pursudfédoR. Civ. P. 37(e)(2) Instead, the
Court held that any prejudice could be cured by requiring that certain facts aboontir@s of
the email exchange be taken as true, specifipallggraphs-6 of Ms. Barbera’s proposed stipu-

lations of fact, aFiling No. 49-1 [Filing No. 62 at 13

On December 4, 2017, Ms. Barbera filed an Objection tdithgistrate Judge’®rder on
Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions, arguing that the Ordeidearly erroneous or is contrary to law”

underFed. R. Civ. P. 72(a)[Filing No. 66 at ] Ms. Barbera contends that the Court’s holding

hinges on its finding that Ms. Barbera “did not print the email exchange and giveeit lawyer”

while she remained employed with PearsoRilifg No. 66 at 4 She allegeghat this finding

“improperly shifts the burden of preservation away from the employer” andegitioe fact that
Ms. Barbera had signed a confidentiality agreement with Pearson thattecelier fom printing

a hard copy. Hiling No. 66 at 23.] As such, Ms. Barberargues that the Magistrate Judge’s

finding shouldbe set aside, that the jusfiouldbe instructed to take as trak paragraphs of Ms.
Barbera’s proposed stipulations of fact, and that the Giwrtildconsider additional sanctions

under Rule 37(e)(2) for Pearson’s destruction ofeméire email account.F[ling No. 66 at §

Pearson responds by contendingtthe Magistrate Judge’s Order is not clearly erroneous
because Ms. Barbera “has no evidence showing Pearson destroyed any evideluckng the
subject email exchangein bad faithor with the intent to deprive her of its use in litigation.”

[Filing No. 68 at 3 Pearson additionally argues that this Court may not consider the contents of

the confidentiality aggement because Ms. Barbera did not submit it in her original motion for

sanctions. Filing No. 68 at 3 Even if the Court did consider the substance of the confidentiality
agreementPearson argues that the email does not fall within its ambit because it reveals no con

fidential information. Filing No. 68 at §
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In her reply brief, Ms. Barberaiterateser argunentthat the Magistrate Judge’s decision
was clearly erroneous because it would “inappropriately shift the burden topheyee plaintiff,
in virtually everyemployment case, to predict which emails will be most important to her case
(without the benefiof discovery), and print a hard copy to ensure their use in litigati¢ghling
No. 69 at 5(emphasis in original) In addition, Ms. Barbera urges the Court to issue harsher
sanctims under Rule 37 because the Magistrate Judge’s decision “failed to addressulaates

of Plaintiff’'s entire email account.”Fjling No. 69 at 58.]

Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(gprovides that a district judge must consider timely objections and
modify or set aside any part of a magistrate judge’s order that is “clearly ersooiers contrary
to law.” Clear error meansdhthe district court may overturn a magistrate judge’s ruling “only if
the court is left with the definite and firm conviction that the magistrate judge madé¢aieniis
Pain Ctr. of SE Indiana, LLC v. Origin Healthcare Sols., M@l 6674745, at *2 (S.D. Ind. Nov.
25, 2014)citing Weeks v. Samsung Heavy Indus, €26 F.3d 926, 943 (7th Cit997). Thisis
an “extremely deferential standard” ahe district court “may not reverse the magistrate judge’s
decision simply because the district court judge would have come to awmlifteynclusion.”
McGuire v. Carrier Corp, 2010 WL 231099, at *1 (S.D. Ind. Jan. 13, 20(Xjng Pinkstonv.
Madry, 440 F.3d 879, 888 (7th Cir. 2006)

In this case, the Court is not left with the definite and firm conviction that tlgsiate
Judge made a mistake in finding no evidence that Pearson acted in bad faith or witgnthe int
deprive Ms. Bavera of use of the email in litigation. With regard to the confidentiadjtgement
Pearson is correct in pointing out that it is impermissible for the Court to coesidence sub-

mitted for the first time in an objection to a magistrate judge’s gulfdeePain Ctr, 2014 WL
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6674745 at *2 (disregarding new evidence because defendants’ assertion of sach &acob-

jection to a magistrate judge’s ruling was “simply too late”). However, gedside the issue of
whether the confidentiality agreement barred Ms. Barbera from retalmengniail in question,

Ms. Barbera has not identified and the Court has not found any evidence showing bad faith or
intent to deprive. Accordingly, Ms.@bera’s Objectioto theMagistrate Judge'®rder on Plain-

tiff's M otion for Sanctiong|Filing No. 64, is OVERRULED . For the purposes of considering
Pearson’s Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court will accept as true theetdcidhsinpara-

graphs 1-6 of Ms. Barbera'’s proposed stipulations of fagtin§g No. 49-1]

.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The followingfactual background is set forth pursuant to the standards detaikRzdt |
The facts stated are not necessarily objectively true, but as the summargnudgamdard re-
quires, the undisputed facts and the disputed evidence are presented in the tifdntoretsle to
“the party against whom the motion under consideration is matterhcor USA, Inc. v. American
Home Assurance Co400 F.3d 523, 526-27 (7th Cir. 2005)
Pearson is an education publishing and assessment company that provides educational

products to pr&-12 education, higher education, and professional customitsig[No. 563

at 2]
During all times relevartb Ms. Barbera’s case, the following individuals were employed
by Pearson: Deborah Freeman, also known as Debbie Lindsay, was the Diréeltioram Re-

sources, filing No. 51 at 2324]; Michael Nathanson was the Senior Vice President of Distribu-

tion, Customer Services, and msportation [Filing No. 565 at 3; Michael Scheuring was the

Director of Inventory, FFiling No. 533 at 4; andLaura Dwyer served as a Manager of Business

Analysis at Pearson’s Cranbury facilitfilfng No. 51 at 1p Meanwhile, Andrew Wallace was
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in charge of the programming staff and Mike Nicholson was in charge of networkihgeither

having responsibility for a specific facilityFiling No. 51 at 15

Ms. Barberabegan working for Pearson in 198%iling No. 51 at § Sheis a graduate

of North Texas State University, now known as the Univerdityasth Texaswhere she earned
a Bachelor’s degree iNlusic, andIindiana University, where shearneda Master’'s of Business

Administration infinance [Filing No. 51 at 4 Shedescribes herself asMensan, filing No. 51

at g, and prior to becoming employed by Peardds, Barbera was employed by Ellly and the

First National Bank of Chicago, and worked on a temporary b&sisg No. 51 at b

Ms. Barlera was mitially hired by Pearson as a Business ManagEilinfj No. 51 at g

Her subsequent roles at Pearson include Manager of Production Control, Proje@usaess

Manager of BusinessyStems, Filing No. 51 at J, and Manager of Distribution Systenig:iling

No. 51 at § Atall times relevant to her case, Ms. Barbera served as Manager of BusinesssAnaly

at Pearson’s Indy North facility.Fling No. 51 at 1§*

A. Pearson Severanc®olicies andVoluntary Separation Plans

On April 1, 2007, Pearson issued a severance pahey‘Severance Politythat applied

to all full time employees.Hiling No. 564 at 6] TheSeverance élicy was subsequdgtrevised

on November 1, 2013and provided as follows:

LIn her deposition, Ms. Barbera testified that titles were “thrown around |§aeBearson but
that she would not refute that her title in 2015 and 2016 was “Manager of Business Analysis.
[Filing No. 51 at 9 Accordingly, this is the title the Court will use.

20n January 1, 2015, Pearson issued a revision to the 20itg, pvhich was identical in all
material respects to the two portions of the 2013 policy cited hefgimg[No. 534 at 12 Filing

No. 504 at 17] As such, the Court will merely refer to the “Severance Policy,” with the under-
standing that it is referring to the appropriate policy for the period of timesdisdu
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Only regular full-time and short-hour Pearson Education and NCS Pearson
employees whose employment is involuntarily terminated for reasons other
than cause (as defined below) are eligible to receive severance pay.
Employees who leave the company voluntarily, or who are discharged for
cause, will not be eligible for severance pay. Term of project, part-time,
temporary, seasonal, per diem workers, freelancers, consultants and
independent contractors, are not eligible to receive severance pay.

[Filing No. 504 at 6] In addition, theSeverance #licy provided that:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Policy, no severance will be paid
to an employee terminated as a result of a sale of assets, sale of stock,
merger, consolidation, liquidation, dissolution or any other transaction when
such employee is offered employment by the purchaser or another employer
in connection with the transaction, regardiess of whether the position offered
is comparable to the employee’s current position or is accepted by the
employee.

[Filing No. 50-4 at 1]

In or around 2013, Pearstyeganto reduce the size and scapfdts warehousg in order

to transition from th@rint business to digital productgziling No. 564 at 3] To that end, Pearson

issued a Voluntary Separation Plan on July 8, 2013 20&3'VSP) in order to reduce the number
of management positions by offering “financial incentives for eligible eyggls to voluntarily

separate from service with the companffEiling No. 504 at 18] The 2013 VSP was not offered

to employees who submitted notice of their resignation prior to the effecteeodé&b employees

who worked in the finance @ystems departmentsFiling No. 504 at 18] The 2013 VSRro-

vided for the following plan benefit:

e Lump Sum Payment 2 weeks of pay for every full year of service to the
company (max. of 286 weeks)Additional month of pay {transition benus) as
an incentive to participate and defray retraining costs
For eligible employees, pro-rated incentive pay for 2013
Pro-rated 2013 vacation

[Filing No. 504 at 19] In order to take advantage of the 2013 V&Rployeesvere requiredo

notify Debbie Freeman prior to August 19, 201Bilifig No. 50-4 at 19
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The next year, Peson announced that its Indy North and Lebanon distribution centers
would be consolidatecandthe companygainoffered a Voluntary Severance Program and At-

tendance Bonus (the “2014 V'SP [Filing No. 504 at 23] The 2014 VSRrovided that salary

and benefits continuation would be determined in accordance with the Severancarrbéitated
that the systems and transptda departments were ineligibie participate in the programFi[-

ing No. 50-4 at 23 In order to opt in, the 2014 VSP provided as follows:

Eligible employees interested in the plan must com plete the attached form and return it to the
Human Resources Department during the election period. The election period begins 2/17/14
and ends 2/28/14. Applications received after the 2/28/14 deadline will not be eligible.

[Filing No. 504 at 23] Approximately 180 employees opted into the 2013 VSP and the 2014

VSP, including 80 employees who were femal€&ilifjg No. 505 at 2 Filing No. 504 at 3]

At various points, Ms. Barbeispokewith Ms. Freemarabout whether severance would

be available if Ms. Barbera chose to leavEilifg No. 51 at 27 At some point after the 2014

VSP was offered, Ms. Barbera had a conversation with Mr. Scheuring about the 20 BUNIEP;
that conversation, Mr. Scheuring made no assurances but represented that anotbeldtSie

along in January 2015Filing No. 51 at 27

B. Individuals who Received Severance Outside of the 2013 and 2014 VSP Periods

A handful of individuals left Pearson’s employ outside of the windows of time Sedtirfiort
the2013 VSP and the 2014 V&iAd received severance benefits

In September 2014, Paul Zale, who was the Director of Engineering at Peatdus jdf

and received severance benefitBilifjg No. 504 at 34.] Earlier, in August 2014, Mr. Zale ap-

proached his supervisor Steve Wenz and asked if there was any possibility ahcevdtiling
No. 502 at 2] Mr. Zale was paid severance in the amount of two weeks for each year of service

to Pearson, along with continued medical coverage through April 2¢kag[No. 502 at 3]
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The terms of his separation were summarized in a letter dated September 3gaetidysDebie
Freeman, which stated that severance would be paid in accordance wivdrance Policy.

[Filing No. 502 at 45.] Mr. Zale's departure was unrelated to any transaction between Pearson

and another entity.Fjling No. 504 at 4]

In March2015,Director of Operations Deborah Petra left her employment at Pdagson

cause her position was eliminataad received severance benefitsiling No. 504 at 4]

On April 17, 2015Tony Ramseywho was the Information Technology System Adminis-

trator at Pearson, left his job and received severance benEfiisg No. 502 at § Filing No. 56

5 at 2] Ms. Barbera and Mr. Ramsey worked in the same department but reporteerentliff
supervisors, with Ms. Barbera reporting to Mr. Scheuring and Mr. Ramsey reporiiket Ni-

cholson. Filing No. 582 at 6] Earlier, in April 2015, Mr. Ramsey approached Ms. Freeman and

asked if there was any possibility of severandéiling No. 562 at 6] Mr. Ramsey was paid

severance in the amount of two weeks for each year of service to Pearsonyitiorantinued

medical coverage for 18 months following his separatiéilinfy No. 582 at 7] The terms of his

separation were summarized in a letter dated April 17, 2015, signed bye@beman, which

stated thateverance would be paid in accordance with the Severance Pdlitigg No. 502 at

9-13] Mr. Ramsey’s departure was unrelated to any transaction betweeonrPaadsanother

entity. [Filing No. 505 at 2]

In June 2015, Thomas Lukasik, who worked as a Key Account Manager at Pearson, left

his job and received severance benefiisling No. 562 at 2122; Filing No. 535 at 2 Filing No.

51 at 25 Prior to his departure, Mr. Lukasik’s supervisor was Director of Operafiotisony

Clark. [Filing No. 50-2 at 2] In March 2015, Mr. Lukasik asked Mr. Nathanson if Pearson was

going to do another round of budget reduction and Mr. Nathanson advised him to speak to Ms.
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Freeman. filing No. 532 at 21] At some time between the end of March and the middle of April

2015, Mr. Lukasik asked Ms. Fm@an about the severance pay proceBdinfj No. 502 at 22]

In June, Mr. Lukasik left his job at Pearson and was paid two weeks of salary fpiyesaeiof

service at Pearson, ancedical coverage through September 2015ling No. 582 at 22] Mr.

Mr. Lukasik’s exit from Pearson was unrelated to any transaction with another eftiityg No.
505 at 2]

C. Pearson’s Transaction with R.R Donnelley

In late July 2014, Pearson sent out a Request for Propd®BP() seeking proposafsom
companies to operate Pearsoerstto-end print supplyhain in North America[Filing No. 56

3 at 3] R.R.Donnelley was among the companies to respond to the FEHg [No. 503 at 3]

In summer 2015, Pearson decided to transfer its warehouses, print, manufacturing, paper
procurement, and supporting services to R.R. Donnelley, and provided R.R. Donnelleyistith a |

of individuals employedt Pearson’s warehousesgiling No. 583 at 3] In July 2015, Mr. Scheu-

ring, who supervised Ms. Barbera and others, provided R.R. Donnelley with ratingsgletisili
team’s skills inorder to assist R.R. Donnelley with making placement decisions within its organ-

ization. [iling No. 503 at 3] Regarding Ms. Barbera, Mr. Scheuring wrote:

Vicki is the top Log Pro Analyst with the most broad
understanding of the various businesses at Pearson. She
is very strong in APC and TMS with a good knowledge of
WHS. She also is has most knowledge of Connections and
Assessments

[Filing No. 50-3 at 10

In August 2015Mr. Scheuring exchanged several emails with Jeff Eisentraut, who was

the Vice President of Information Technology at R.R. Donnellgitinfj No. 563 at 11-14 On

August 20, 2015, Mr. Eisentraut asked Mr. Scheuring if he would corgdsldBarbera and two

other Pearson employees “super usergiling No. 563 at 14] The next dayMr. Eisentraut
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again wrote to Mr. Scheuringpncerning Ms. Barbera and the same two Pearson employees, this

time stating:

Based on the helpful information you provided I am viewing the above folks as super users - and that they really
do no have any RPG or programming skills to go in and modify source code. Hence it would probably make
most sense that they would report up to the businesa and John Ramich vs. being part of Andrew Wallace and
team reporting up to me in IT - would you concur?

[Filing No. 50-3 at 13 Mr. Scheuring respondex$ follows:

Your assumption on Richard Is correct. Howeaver | would categorize Laura and Vicki as more than super users, Instead |
would call them system analysts. True they do not write RPG programs but they have technical capability. For example
they both have mapped Interfaces, participated [n detailed program designs and have deep understanding of how Log
Pro functions. Also both have headed up full warehouse implementations,

[Filing No. 583 at 11] Mr. Scheuring ended his email with, “I hope that helps,” to which Mr.

Eisentraut replied, “Yes that doed could use folks like Lauradwyer] and Vicki [Barbera] as
there will be plenty of mapping/interface work coming down the pipe in the next2'y§ailing
No.50-3at 1]

On or around September 15, 2015, Mr. Scheuring, Ms. Barbera’s supervisor, informed her
that he would be asking her for data for quite some time because a transitiaringa® gccu.

[Filing No. 503 at 4 Filing No. 51 at 14Filing No. 51 at 40 Along with Ms. Barbera, Mike

Nicholson and Laura Dwyevere also asked to gather degtated to the transition.F{ling No.
51 at 14] ThereafterMr. Scheuring would ask Ms. Barbera questions pertaining to specific data.

[Filing No. 51 at 14

Around the same timéJr. Scheuring began referriig.R. Donnelley tavir. Wallacefor
technical questins that involved the intricacies of programming, applications, and hardware be-

cause of Mr. Wallace’sxpertise in thaarea. [Filing No. 503 at 5] Meanwhile,Mr. Wallace

came to MsBarbera to ask her questions regarding how certain things workgihg No. 51 at

14-15] Mr. Wallace would communicate information that he obtained to R.R. Donnelleyrat the
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request. [filing No. 51 at 1§ Ms. Barbera never asked anyone on Pearson’s management team

why Mr. Wallace was performing this function instead of hé&ilig No. 51 at 1§ Mr. Wallace

attended meetings related to this function on a weekly or biweekly b&sisig No. 51 at 14

Those meetings were attended by Jeff Eisentraut, Mike Nicholson, and offiérgy No. 51 at

15]
On October 13, 2015, Pearson signed a contract governing the transfer of warehouses,
print, manufacturing, paper procurement, and supporting services to R.R. Donngilieyg No.
50-3 at 3]
In mid-January 2016, Pearson held a meeting to inform individuals who worlkeshat
son’s Indy North facility— including Ms. Barbera- that the facility and distribution operations

would be transferred to R.R. Donnelle¥tiljng No. 51 at 10 At the meeting itvas revealed that

the majority of the employees would have the opportunity to “rebadge” by bearga# position
with R.R. Donnelley and that their salaries and employment would be guartorteedmonths.

[Filing No. 51 at 1 This transaction affected approximately 700 employees, both male and

female, who were informed that their employment with Pearson would be temnomakebruary

29, 2016. Filing No. 503 at 3]

Along with information conveyed at the January 2016 meeting, Pearson employees were

given a Frequently Asked Questso(fFAQ”) memorandum. Hiling No. 563 at 34.] One ques-

tion and answer in the FAQ memorandum dealt with severance:

If | choose to leave Pearson before the transition to RRD, will | receive a severance package?
Employees are not eligible for severarice who apt to resigh rather than transition to RR
Donnielley.

[Filing No. 503 at7.]
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Ms. Barbera sent an email to Michael Nathanson, Pearson’s Senior ViceRres$iDis-
tribution, in January of 2016, around the time of the formal announcement of Pearson’sdransac

with R.R. Donnelley. Filing No. 491 at 2]® Ms. Barbera also copied this email to Michael

Scheuring, Pearson’s Director of Supply Chaifilifg No. 431 at 2] Ms. Barbera’€mail mes-

sage asked Mr. Nathanson whether she could receive severance pay rather thargrebedm
R.R. Donnelley, and stated that she would be happy to extend her employment long enough to

help in the transition, but that she did want to lea\ling No. 491 at 2] Mr. Nathanson re-

sponded within one workday by denying Ms. Barbera’s request for sev@ayamnd stating that
if she had wanted to exit with severance, she would have had to have asked fin theitlead-

line for the 2024 VSP. [Filing No. 491 at 2] Ms. Barbera interpreted Mr. Nathanson’s email as

a reference to the Pearson Voluntary SevegaPay policy dated February 1, 201&ilifig No.
49-1 at 2] Mr. Nathanson'’s reply email to Ms. Barbera did not say anything about the R.R. Don-
nelley outsourcing or transaction being the reason why he was denying her fegsegtrance.

[Filing No. 481 at 3] Mr. Nathanson’s reply email to Ms. Barbera did not say anything about

“rebadging” being the reason why he was denying her request for severgitiog. No. 431 at

3]

On Februay 18, 2016, Daniel Lennon wrote a letter to Ms. Barbera’s counsel in response

to correspondence dated February 8, 2016, which provided as follows:

3 The facts set forth in this paragraph are taken as true pursuant to the Calet'atBiting No.
62
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Pearson acknowledges and is grateful for the many years of service Ms. Barbera provided the
Company. It recognizes her accomplishments and appreciates all of them. However, per the
clear language of the Company’s severance policy, Ms. Barbera is not entitled to severance.

Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a copy of Pearson’s Severance Policy. The fifth paragraph under
the “Policy” section states that, “Severance pay will not be paid to employees whose termination
is the result of a merger or acquisition”, as set forth in detail in the section titled “Severance as a
Result of a Merger/Acquisition” of this policy. Under the “Severance as a Result of
Merger/Acquisition” section of the policy, it clearly states that no severance will be paid to an
employee terminated as a result of a sale of assets, sale of stock, merger....or any other
transaction when such employee is offered employment by the purchaser or another employer in
connection with the transaction...”. That is exactly what occurred in Ms. Barbera’s case. She is
to be offered employment by R.R. Donnelly effective February 29, 2016 and therefore is not
entitled to severance.

[Filing No. 496 at 2]

R.R. Donndky offered Ms. Barbera the same positstie had held at PearseiManager
of Business Analysis at the North Indy facility, which would have taken effect March 1, 2016.

[Filing No. 51 at 19 Ms. Barbera refused this employment offer and communicated this refusal

to R.R. Donnelley by not showing up for work on March 1, 20E8inp No. 51 at 19 She later

verified that she had refused R.R. Donnelley’s employment offer over the telephone to Andrew

Wallace after he called to inquireEiling No. 51 at 13

After Ms. Barbera’®€mployment at Pearson ended, she made no attempts to seek new em-

ployment. Filing No. 51 at § Ms. Barbera has not earned any income since February 29, 2016.

[Filing No. 51 at 37

D. The Lawsuit
Ms. Barberanitiated this lawsuit oiseptember 23, 2016nd filed the operativeRmended

Complaint on February 15, 2017iljng No. 1, Filing No. 24] Pearson has moved for somary

judgment, Filing No. 50, and that motion is now ripe for the Court’s decision.
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V.
DiscussIoN

A. SexDiscrimination Claim

Title VII of the Civil Rights Actof 1964 forbids an employer frodiscriminatingagainst
ary individual with respect to hécompensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment,
because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national orighnfonetti v. Abbott
Laboratories 563 F.3d 587, 591 (7th Cir0Q9) (citing 42 U.S.C. 8§ 20002(a)(1)). “To survive
summary judgment on a Title VII discrimination claim, a plaintiff must present msgdéhat
would permit a reasonabfactfinder to conclude that the plaintiff's race, ethnicity, sex, religion
or other proscribed factor caused the dischardéilligan-Grimstad v. Stanley  F.3d __, 2017
WL 6276198, at *2 (7th Cir. Dec. 11, 201(guotation omitted).

This Court’s analysis of Ms. Barbera’s Title VII claim comes nearly agedm half after
the Seventh Circuit’s decision @rtiz v. Werner Enters., Ind834 F.3d 76Q7th Cir. 2016. Since
that time, the Court of Appeals has had numerous opportunities to explain an@#&piy a
variety of employment contextand it is to this body of law that the Court now turr@rtiz
“discarded the longtanding practice of distinguishing between ‘direct’ and ‘indirect’ exaden
analyzing discrimination claims.Grant v. Trustees of Indiana Unj\870 F.3d 562, 569 (7th Cir.
2017)(citation omitted). Nowinstead of separating evidence under different methods of proof,
“[e]vidence must be considered as a whole, rather than asking whether aaylgrapiece of
evidence proves the case by itsetir whether just the ‘direct’ evidence does so, or the ‘indirect’
evidence.”Golla v. Office of Chief Judge of Cook Cty., lllind@35 F.3d 404, 407 (7th Cir. 2017)
(quotingOrtiz, 834 F.3d at 765 In determining whether the evidence would permit a reasonable
factfinder to conclude that MBarbera’s sex caused her to be treated unfairly, “the bigiéimg

framework ofMcDonnell Douglagemains relevant as a means of organizing, presenting, and
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assessing circumstantial evidence in frequently recurring factuatnzatteind in discriminan
cases.”Owens v. Old Wisconsin Sausage Co., i8¢0 F.3d 662, 667 (7th Cir. 201®)cDonnell
Douglas Corp. v. Greer#11 U.S. 792 (1973)

Both Pearson and Ms. Barbera organize their arguments in terms\vdéDuanell Doug-
las framework and the Court will follow suitThis familiar framework requires Ms. Barbera to
show that:(1) she is a member of a protected class;s{®) performed her job to hemployer’s
expectations; (33he suffered an adverse employment action; andr(é)or more similarlgitu-
ated individual®utside heprotected class received better treatméwetrill v. Oak CreekFrank-
lin Joint Sch. Dist.860 F.3d 494, 5007th Cir. 2017) If Ms. Barbera makes this prima facie
showing, the burden shifts to Pearson to come forward with a legitimate, nondiatoitypireason
for the challenged employment actidd. If Pearson does this, then the burden shifts back to Ms.
Barbera to produce evidence establishing a genuine dispute of fact about wlatkenB reason
was a pretext for discriminatiorid.

Ms. Barbera argues thBearsordiscriminated againgterin two ways: (1) bydenying
herseveranceand (2) by denying her a role as an information technology liaison durin@itie tr
sition to R.R. Donnelley.

1. The Denial of Severance
Turning to the first issudlearson allegdahat“all employees affected by Pearson’s trans-

action with R.R. Donnelley male and female— were treated the samdFiling No. 52 at 13

(emphasis in original).] Pearson additionally argilvas Ms. Barbera cannot show that she was
treated differently thathethree male colleaguasseidentifiedbecause those individuals were not

similarly situated. Filing No. 52 at 13-14
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In response, Ms. Barbera argues that she met her initial burden regarding discisen-
ination claim by showing that(1) she is female; (2) she was receiving ‘outstanding’ performance
evaluatiors; (3) she suffered an adverse employment action in that she was denied sevgrance pa
when she requested it, and (4) three male colleagues were treated more favorablyat they
were granted severance pay when they were ineligible under theteepis of the plan.”Hiling
No. 60 at 17

In its reply brief, Pearson reiterates that Ms. Barbera’s alleged compageteinsed sev-
erance under “completely different circumstances” than existed at the time of restsdqu sev-
erance because her regsastplicated Pearson’s severance policy provision while the alleged

comparators’ requests did no&il[ng No. 61 at 3-4

In identifying one or more similarly situated individuals outside her protected who
received better treatment, Ms. Barbarastsubmit evidence that she and the similarly situated
male employees “reported to the same supervisor, engaged in the same conduct, ancmad the s
qualifications,” and that “there were no ‘differentiating or mitigating enstances as would dis-
tinguish . . . the employer’s treatment of themlBhnson v. Chicago Transit Autlb99 F. App’x
558, 559 (7th Cir. 2017 Fkitations omitted).

Ms. Barbera identifiethree men who received severance outside the periods of time con-
templated in the 2013 VSP and the 2014 VSP: Paul Zale, Tony Ramséyhands Lukasik.

The record indicates that each of these individuals reported to different supéeraisdiis, largef

4 While Ms. Barbera reported to Michael Scheurirfglifig No. 502 at §] Mr. Zale reported to
Steve Wenz, Hiling No. 532 at 3, Mr. Ramsey reported to Mike Nicholsoiiljng No. 502 at
6], and Mr. Lukasik reported to Anthony Clarkiling No. 50-2 at 2]L
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silent on the individuals’ various qualifications. That said, “the similarly tgtbanalysis is flex-
ible, and the result depends on any relevant factors and common ddag&s v. Gen. Elec. Cp.
714 F.3d 527, 538 (7th Cir. 2013The Court will, therefore, look past unduly technical distinc-
tions among the individuals.

The problemwith Ms. Barbera’s reliance ahese individual&is comparators that thg
left Pearson in September 2014, April 2015, and June 2015, respeetvahbefore Ms. Barbera
alleges she made her first severance redsestetime in the later part of 2015.[Filing No. 60
at 4] Thedistinction inthetiming of the requests significant given thevidence thahesituation
at Pearson evolved significantly over the course of 201t record indicates, faxample, that
in July 2015, Mr. Scheuring began providing R.R. Donnelley with ratings detailing hisstea
skills in order to assist R.R. Donnelley with making placement decisions wghonganization.

[Filing No. 533 at 3 Filing No. 533 at 10] By September, Mr. Scheuring informed Ms. Barbera

that he would be asking her for data because a transition was going to édouy.No. 51 at 14

Filing No. 51 at 40 And on October 13, 2015, Pearson signed a contract gogdire transfer

of warehouses, print, manufacturing, paper procurement, and supporting services toriRg}. D

ley. [Filing No. 503 at 3] There existed, thereforamajordifferentiaing or mitigating circum-

stance that distinguishes Pearson’s treatment of individuals who requestexhse in late 2014
and early 2015 frorvls. Barberavho requested severanegthe earliestn the later half of 2015.

In short, Pearson’s impending transaction with R.R. Donnell#ythe promise of continued to

® The Court notes that Ms. Barbera contends in her response brief that “there is nosevidiae
record to indicate” whether Ms. Barbenadethree alleged requests for severahuefore or after
September, 2015.”Fjling No. 60 at 14.3.] The only evidence of these requests consists of Ms.
Barbera’s deposition testimony on the subject. However, the burden of identifyifaylgi situ-

ated individuals falls on Ms. Barbera. At no point does Ms. Barbera allege, letsdlow, that
she made requests for severance in the same period of tiMe Zsle, Mr. Ramseyor Mr.
Lukasik.
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employment to individuals such as Ms. Barbexmstitutes a differentiating circumstance, such
that the individuals identified by Ms. Barbera are not similarly situated.

This differentiating circumstance is also demonstrated by the Sevétalcg which pro-
vides that “no severance will be paid to an employee terminated as a result of asatfsale
of stock, merger, consolidation, liquidation, dissolution, or @ttner transaction when such em-
ployee is offered employment by . . . another employer in connection with the tiam&gdtiling
No. 504 at 11] Neither Mr. Zale, nor Mr. Ramseyor Mr. Lukasik were offered employment

by another employer under the terms of the Severance Pokayng[No. 564 at 4 Filing No.

505 at 2] Nor is there any evidence that any of Ms. Barbgredposed comparatovgould have
been given a job by R.R. Donnellafger its transaction with PearsoMs. Barkera, however, was
offered the same position she had held at Pearddenager of Business Analysisat the North

Indy facility with R.R. Donnelley, which would have taken effect MarcBA16. Filing No. 51

at 12] She was one dpproximately 700 employees, both male and female, who were informed

that their employment with Pearson would be terminated on February 29, ZliG Nlo. 563

at 3] Had Pearson offered Ms. Barbera severance in January or February 20dfid ihave
been treating her differently than the 700 other individuals who afegeednew jobs with R.R.
Donnelley, none of whorwere eligible for severance under the terms of the Severance.Policy
Likewise there is no evidence that there were smyilarly situated male employees
meaning employees who left Pearson’s employ after July 204t were offered positionsith
R. R. Donnellyandwere alsmffered severance. Indeéds. Barbera’s own deposition testimony
establishes that no male employee of the Indy North distribution centee whgdoyment termi-
nated on the same day as Ms. Beats was offered severance pay from PearsBiing No. 51

at 2§, and that the sale to R.R. Donnelley affected Ms. Barbera and other managers aSbusine
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analysis- male and female in the same wayHiling No. 51 at 1D Ms. Barbera was not similarly

situaed to her proposed comparators; she was similarly situated to hundesdglofees who
were offered new jobs wi R.R. Donnelley, and the evidence shows that she was similarly treated
to them.

Having failed to meet her burden undécDonnell Douglasthe Courtneednot proceed
to analyze Ms. Barberaallegations regarding severance under the burden shifting meliimod.
stead, eturning to theguidance set forth i@rtiz, Ms. Barbera’s failure to meet her burden under
McDonnell-Douglasdemonstratethat there is insufficientevidence, when taken as aoid to
permit a reasonable factfinder to conclude that Ms. Barbera was denied severanse dicican
sex.

Although Ms. Barbera has not set forth a prima facie case of sex discriminatiQuLitie
will briefly consider the issue of pretext. To shovetpxt, Ms. Barbera must establish that a
“phony reason (not just an unfounded one)” was given for her the denial of sevdvencaing
v. Ternes Packaging, Indiana, In868 F.3d 568, 571 (7th Cir. 201(¢)ting Hill v. Tangherlini
724 F.3d 965, 968 (7th Cir. 2013heichen v. Ameritegi10 F.3d 956, 961 (7th Cir. 2005)
Such an inquiry requires this Court to “evaluate the honesty of the employer’saiqiarather
than its validity or reasonableness$dill, 724 F.3d a®68(citations omitted) Ms. Barberalleges
that she made two requests for severan@arty 2016 each of which she contends were denied

under a false pretextFiling No. 60 at 15-14 As to Ms. Barbera’sequesin January 2016Mr.

Nathanson responddyy stating“that if she had wanted to exit with severance, she would have
had to have asked for it within the deadline for the 2014 Voluntary Severance P(0g&&t).”

[Filing No. 491 at 2] As to herequesin February 2016, Mr. Lennon responded by stating that

Ms. Barbera was not entitled to severance “per the clear language” of the SeveragdePalise
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she was being offered employment by R.R. Donnelléylinfy No. 436 at 2] Nothing in the

record suggests that either of those reasons were proffered by Pearson in oesdér tiolawful
discriminationor that Pearson lied about its reasons for not offering Ms. Barbera severance. Ms.
Barbera may believe that Pearson’s reasons for denying her severance iy dadugebruary
2016 were unfounded, but she has not met her burden of proving by a preponderance of the evi-
dence that the reasons were pretext for discrimination.
2. The Denial of an Information Technology Role

Turning next to Ms. Barberasontention that she was denied a specific role during the
transition to R.R. Donnelley, Pearson alleges that it cannot be held responsibleyiing tien an
“Information Technology contact position” because it did not create any such pe&ttlRnDon-

nelley did. Filing No. 52 at 13

Ms. Barbera contends that Pearson is responsibtieforing heman information technol-
ogy liaison role at R.R. Donnelley under the “cat’s paw” theory, wherein an eenpédiable for
tainting or infuencing an independent decisioakerwith the employer’s illegal motivesFiling
No. 60 at 1§ Specifically, she alleges “[a]lthough Mr. Scheuring was not technitdadyfinal
decisionmaker” about what position to offer her at R.R. Donnelley, “it is cleaRtRaDonnelley
was relying heavilyon Mr. Scheuring’s recommendations in making its decision,” and that she
“has raised a sufficient issue of fact for a jury to decide whether Pearson shoufuldtadeher

in the IT liaisorrole.” [Filing No. 60 at 19

Pearson responds that failing to place Ms. Barbera in a position that did not egtstms

adverse employment action under Title VIEiling No. 61 at 14 Moreover, Pearson contends

that Ms. Barbera’s cat’s paw theory “simply does not make sensdirig[No. 61 at 13 Finally,
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Pearson argues that there is simply noewie that Mr. Scheuring has any discriminatory animus

toward Ms. Barbera.Hling No. 61 at 13

The “cat’s paw” theory that Ms. Barbera presemtsvides that courts may find diresti-
dence of discrimination where “a biasgthordinate” who lacks decision making power to fire an
employee “uses a formal decision maker as a dupe in a deliberate scheme to tiggenmal
tory employment action.Nichols v. Michigan City Plant Planning Dep#55 F.3d 594, 600 (7th
Cir. 2014)(citations and quotations omitted\pplying the cat’s paw theory to the case at hand is
inapposite at each turn. First, Ms. Barbera’s “biased subordinate” is, indaet subordinatat
all, let alone onavho lacked decision making power. To the contrary, Mr. Scheuring was Ms.

Barbera’sdirect supervisor. Hiling No. 502 at 6] Second, the employénatMs. Barbera seeks

to hold liable— Pearsonr-is not the entity thas. Barbera claimwas used to trigger a disern-
natory employment actiooy a biased subordinate. In her response briefsgbeifically alleges
that “it is clear that R.R. Donnelley was relying heavily on Mr. Scheurirggemmendations in

making its decision.” Hiling No. 60 at 19 But R.R. Donnelley can incur liability for sex dis-

crimination only if Ms. Barbera can “prove the existence of an empkaygloyee relationship”
with R.R. Donnelley.Nischan v. Stratosphere Quality, LL865 F.3d 922, 928 (7th Cir. 2017)
(quotingLove v. JP Cullen & Sons, IncZ79 F.3d 697, 701 (7th Cir. 20)5)In this case, Ms.
Barbera was never an employee of R.R. Donnelley, having refused its empiaffee by not

showing up for work on March 1, 2016Eiling No. 51 at 14 Even if the facts of this case could

be shoehorned into the cat’s paw theory, there is no evidence in the record thahéwringc
harbored a discriminatory animus toward Ms. Barbera. Quite the opposite. isTineerecord
contains evidence that Mr. Scheuring informed R.R. Donnelley that Ms. Baragfaery strong”

with “a good knowledgebdf systemsandthe “most knowledge” of connections and assessments,
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[Filing No. 533 at 1Q, that she was “more than a superuser” and hatbep knowledge” of

certain company functionfziling No. 503 at 11. For these reasons, the Court finds that there is

insufficient evidence tdraw any conclusionf discrimination under the cat’s paw theory.

Ms. Barbera has naet forth a prima facie case of sex discrimination related to the denial
of severance or the denial of any role with R.R. Donnelley. Accordingly, hersexrdnation
claim fails as a matter of law, and Pearson is entitled to summary judgment onithét cla

B. Equal PayAct Claim

Nearly five months after filing her complaint, Ms. Barbera filedAanended Complaint
adding a cause of action pursuant to the Equal Pay Pitind No. 24] In its Motion for Summary
Judgment, Pearson argues that Ms. Barbera’s Equal Pay Act claim failsebd®aaison had a
genderneutral justification for providing severance benefits to the three magagaks Ms. Bar-

bera identified: the ending of their employment occurred under wholly diffareatrtstances not

¢ AlthoughMs. Barbera’s Title VII claim fails as a matter of law on its merits, the Court will
briefly addressMs. Barber& efforts to mitigateher damages consistent with the Circuit’s
“longstanding” and “repeatedly reaffirmed” framework forakating mitigation questions.
Stragapede v. City of Evanston, lllino85 F.3d 861, 868 (7th Cir. 2017J o provea failure to
mitigate in this context, theearson must show th@t) Ms. Barbera failed to exercise reasble
diligence to mitigate her damages, gBiithere was reasonable likelihood that sheght have
found comparable work by excising reasonablidiligence. Id. at 868(quotingFleming v. County

of Kane 898 F.2d 553, 560 (7th Cir. 1990)

Here, notwithstanding her unsuccessful efforts to earn an income by day trihdirevidence
establishes that Ms. Barbera turned down a guaranteed six months at ken Bakary|[Filing
No. 51 at 1P made nattempts to seek new employmeitlihg No. 51 at §, andhas not earned
anyincome since February 29, 201Biling No. 51 at 3P Given these facts, and considering Ms.
Barbera’sconsiderable educational background and work experiénsell but establishethat
she failed to mitigate her damageSee, e.g.Mattensonv. Baxter Healthcare Corp438 F.3d
763, 77172 (7th Cir. 2006)finding a failure to mitigate where a plaintiff with “vast experience
plus an educational background that includes a master's degree in biomedicalrengjicen-
tacted 23 firms without success). However, having decided the case on the grouvids Baat
bera has not set forth a prima facie case of sex discrimin#t@®iCourt need not make a specific
finding on this issue.
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applicable to Ms. Barbera when she finally expressed her desire to leave Redustarily.”

[Filing No. 52 at 29 In regonse, Ms. Barbera makes no specific arguments regarding her Equal

Pay Act claim. [Filing No. 6Q] In its reply brief, Pearson notes that Ms. Barbera does not distin-
guish between her Title Yand Equal Pay Act claimsndit accordingly addresses such claims

together in its reply. Hiling No. 61 at 4

The Equal Pay Act prohibits an employer from discriminating between employethe
basis of sex.29 U.S.C. § 206(d)(1)To establish a prima facie cause of action under the Act, an
employee must demonstrate a difference in pay for equal work on jobs thenaerderof which
requires equal skill, effort, and responsibility, and which are performed sgidgar working
conditions.”Lauderdale v. lllinois Dep’t of Human Sery876 F.3d 904, 907 (7th Cir. 201(¢}-
tation and quotation omitted). The Act provides four affirmative defensesich the employer
can claim the discrepancy et discriminatory: “where . . paymei is made pursuant to (i) a
seniority system; (ii) a merit system; (iii) a system which measures earningariiityjar quality
of production; or (iv) a differential based on any other factor other thanlgeat’907(quoting
29 U.S.C. § 206(d)()) “An employer asserting that the difference is the tedfud ‘factor other
than sex’ must present this contention as an affirmative defense—and the proponexitimhan
ative defense has the burdens of both production and persuakiog.V. Acosta Sales & Mktg.,
Inc., 678 F.3d 470, 474 (7th Cir. 2012)

Ms. Barbera fails to mention the Equal Pay Act in her response to Pearsoros kboti
Summary Judgment and otherwisdld to set forth a prima facie cause of action under the Act.
However, even if the Court were to infer that Mr. Zale, Mr. Ramsey, and Mr. ku&esithe
relevant comparators for the purposes of Ms. Barbera’s Equal Pay Act taelaim fails for

thesame reason that her Title VII claim failEven assumingrguendahat Ms. Barbera was able
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to demonstrate a prima facie cause of action under the Equal Pahedtiree individualshe
identifies as having been similarly situaleft Pearson beforthe company began its transition

with R.R. Donnelley. [Filing No. 583 at 3 Filing No. 563 at 10] Just as this distinction in

timing constitutes “mitigating circumstanceunder Title VI, it alsoproves to be “differential
based on &ctor other than sex” under the Equal Pay A&t suchMs. Barbera’s Equal Pay Act
claim fails as a matter of law, and Pearson is entitled to summary judgment onithat cla

V.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the ClOMERRULES Ms. Barber& Objection to theviag-
istrate Judge'©rder on Plaintiff’'s Motion for Sanctions56], and GRANTS Pearsois Motion

for SummaryJudgment, [50]. Final judgment shall enter accordingly.

Date: 12/28/2017 QM%W m

/Hon. Jane l\/l]ag<m>s-8tinson, Chief Judge
'United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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